
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUSSEX COUNTY WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT 
 

POLICY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES 
 

JANUARY 9, 2014 
 

 The meeting was opened at 7:33 p.m. County Counsel, Dennis R. McConnell. 
The meeting was held in compliance with the Open Public Meetings Act, N.J.S.A. 10:4-
1 of 1975, as amended, and notice has been forwarded to the newspapers and posted 
on the bulletin board maintained at the Sussex County Administrative Center for 
public announcement. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
 MEMBERS PRESENT: James Landrith, Andover Borough 
    Keith Gourlay, Hampton Township 
    Carrine Kaufer, Hardyston Township 
    Howard Baker, Hopatcong Borough 
    David Muscalo, Lafayette Township 
    Paul Baldwin, Town of Newton 
    Eric Powell, Sparta Township 
    Lisa Chammings, Stillwater Township 
    Annette Stendor, Sussex Borough 
    Denise Webb, Wantage Township 
    Richard Gottemoller, At-Large  

Ernie Hofer, At-Large 
    Kathy Little, At-Large 
    Eleanor Mensonides, At-Large, Vice Chair 
    John Nugent, At-Large 
    Dennis Mudrick, Freeholder Liaison 
     
EXCUSED MEMBERS: Michael Furrey, Vernon Township 

Joseph Lashendock, At-Large 
     
 STAFF MEMBERS:  Alice Brees, Principal Planner 
    Dennis R. McConnell, Esq., County Counsel 
    Antoinette Wasiewicz, Recording Secretary 



MINUTES       Page 
1/9/14 
 
 

 

2

 ALSO PRESENT:  Ian Blanchard, Stillwater Township 
Cory Stoner, Wantage Township 
Terrence Baumann, Bicsak Brothers Realty 
Paul Bicsak, Bicsak Brothers Realty 
Tom Molica, Bicsak Brothers Realty and Main Land 

    Owen Dykstra, Bicsak Brothers Realty and Main Land 
    Andrea Muscalo, Lafayette Township 
    Ann Smulewicz, Wantage Township 
    John Rose, Mayor of Sussex Borough 
    Mark Zschack, Adminstrator/Clerk of Sussex Borough 
 
REORGANIZATION: 

 

Dennis McConnell, Esq. asked for the report from the Nominating Committee. Jim 
Landrith said the Nominating Committee has two candidates for the office of 
Chairman, Howard Baker and Eleanor Mensonides. Mr. Landrith suggested that there 
be a secret ballot vote and that the candidate with the most votes becomes Chairman 
and the candidate with the second most votes becomes the Vice Chairman. He added 
that there were no nominations for Vice Chairman. Dennis McConnell asked if there 
were additional nominations for the position of Chairman. No other nominations were 
made. He called for a motion to close the nominations. A motion was made by Lisa 
Chammings to close the nominations for Chairman. The motion was seconded by Eric 
Powell and carried unanimously.  
 
Ballot paper was provided to each of the 15 voting members who were present. Mr. 
McConnell instructed the members to write the name of their candidate of choice on 
the paper and then to fold the paper in half and in half again if they wished. He also 
gave them the opportunity to move to the dais if they wanted more privacy. Mr. 
McConnell then collected the ballots and counted them in the presence of the 
Nominating Committee. He announced that the Chairperson for the year is Eleanor 
Mensonides and the Vice Chair is Howard Baker.  
 

MINUTES CORRECTION/APPROVAL: 
 
A motion was made by Lisa Chammings to approve the Minutes of December 12, 
2013. The motion was seconded by Denise Webb.  All were in favor, with abstentions 
from David Muscalo, Eric Powell, Annette Stendor, Richard Gottemoller, Ernie Hofer 
and Kathy Little. Motion carried. 
 

PRESENTATION: 

 

A. MAIN LAND SUSSEX CO. EXISTING “WANTAGE PLAZA” SHOPPING CENTER: 
 
Tom Molica, said he is an attorney with the firm Vogel, Chait, Collins and Schneider in 
Morristown, NJ. He said he and Owen Dykstra, P.E. from Dykstra Associates are here 
on behalf of Main Land Sussex Co., LLC and Bicsak Brothers Realty to discuss their 
proposed Wastewater Management Plan Amendment for the Township of Wantage 
Wastewater Management Plan. They are proposing that two properties be changed to 



MINUTES       Page 
1/9/14 
 
 

 

3

sewer service areas and connected to the Sussex County Municipal Utility Authority 
sewerage treatment plant. He said they did receive endorsement resolutions from 
Wantage Township for both proposals. The Township Engineer, Corey Stoner is 
present this evening in case the Committee has any questions from the Township’s 
perspective. 
 
Owen Dykstra said he wanted to start with Wantage Plaza shopping center. This is an 
existing site located on Route 23 North, between Hamburg and Sussex Boroughs. It is 
a 120,000 sq. ft. facility that is currently operating. There are septic systems on site 
that have failed and they are currently utilizing holding tanks before taking the sewage 
by truck from this site to SCMUA. The goal is to tie this facility into Sussex Borough’s 
pipe that runs along Route 23. They have been in touch with Sussex Borough and it is 
their understanding that there is allocation potentially available as well as the ability 
to connect to that at some point in the future.  
 
A water system is already on site, as well as a water tower for fire protection. There is 
a non-transient water system for the facility. The site is primarily retail. There have 
been a couple of restaurants. The use is limited because of this septic problem. The 
property is not being used to its highest and best use. The proposed wastewater flow is 
15,800 gallons per day (gpd.) Mr. Dykstra agreed with Mr. Molica that what is being 
proposed is an improvement to how the site is currently functioning. He added that 
what is there currently is the least desirable and most costly method of getting rid of 
wastewater.  
 
David Muscalo asked if they have received approval from the municipality. Mr. 
Dykstra said that Wantage Township does not own any wastewater capacity. Sussex 
Borough has an ordinance in place that would allow them to purchase it from them. 
He said they have not applied yet because they don’t want to go through that process 
until they know they are in the Wastewater Management Plan. Howard Baker said that 
the wastewater is currently going to SCMUA and if the proposal is approved, the 
wastewater also goes to SCMUA, so they are just fundamentally changing how it gets 
there. John Nugent said the project makes a lot of sense and would benefit the 
developer and Sussex County. If Sussex Borough agrees to sell the allocation, it also 
benefits Sussex Borough.  
  
There was some discussion on the gallonage. Mr. Dykstra said when you go into the 
Wastewater Management Plan that goes to SCMUA, you generally don’t get assigned a 
gallonage per site. If you can get allocation at some point, then you can increase your 
use. An on-site wastewater treatment plant that is limited comes with a gallonage 
allocation.  
 
Mr. Baker asked if there were any constraints on the capacity of the pipe to move the 
wastewater from the site to SCMUA. Mr. Dykstra said the pipe has been studied and 
that would have to be verified. There were some Inflow & Infiltration (I & I) issues in 
Sussex Borough that caused some problems with that pipe, but he believes that is 
being worked out. Once that is proven, access to that pipe should be available.  
 



MINUTES       Page 
1/9/14 
 
 

 

4

Mr. Molica said this would be a significant improvement to how the site is functioning 
now. They urge PAC to recommend its approval to the Freeholders. Alice Brees 
clarified that this issue is not ready for a vote tonight. This is an initial discussion 
only. Mr. Molica asked if PAC was contemplating offering comments for the applicant 
to address and then appear again before them. Ms. Brees said that was correct.  
 
Ms. Mensonides said they should obtain a letter from Sussex Borough indicating their 
position on this proposal. Mr. Molica said that Tom Collins has had good positive 
conversations with the prior municipal counsel. They do not envision that things will 
change under the stewardship of the new municipal attorney. They are confident that 
an agreement can be reached and effectuated easily. Mr. Muscalo agreed that PAC 
should have something in writing. Annette Stendor said she is from Sussex Borough 
and that the Administrator and the Mayor are here this evening.  
 
John Rose said he is the Mayor of Sussex Borough and that they have addressed most 
of their I & I issues. They would be very happy to have Wantage Plaza as a new 
customer on their system. He said they will be very happy to do whatever they can to 
expedite the process. There is an application process outlined in an ordinance, but it 
is rather expensive and lengthy. It would help the applicant if they can begin the 
process here.  
 
Alice Brees asked if the application would be to tie into the system. Mark Zschack, 
Adminstrator/Clerk of Sussex Borough, said the ordinance sets the process to apply, 
for the applicant to tie into the system. There is an application fee and escrow fee and 
the Borough’s Engineer would review the application. He said the capacity of the pipe 
will also be looked at. Mr. Rose said the pipe can handle 1.2 to 1.4 million gallons per 
day (gpd). Their flow is 150,000-200,000 gpd during a normal flow day. Ms. Brees 
asked if Wantage would be involved since the project is located there. Mr. Molica said 
there already is an agreement with Wantage for water and sewer. Ms. Brees said PAC 
is interested in knowing if that agreement is already in place for this proposal. Mr. 
Molica said he would have to look into that. 
 
Corey Stoner said he is from Harold Pellow and Associates and that he is sure there 
should be a site specific agreement from Wantage Township, probably by Resolution or 
Ordinance to allow them to connect to the pipe. Mr. Zschack said the Township does 
endorse this proposal and that there is an executed Resolution from the Township 
governing body. Ms. Brees asked if maintenance issues are covered in the agreement. 
Mr. Dykstra said this would be a connection to Sussex Borough’s pipe. Wantage would 
not be involved. Ms. Brees asked about the amount that is available for Sussex 
Borough. John Nugent said Sussex Borough’s allocation is 464,000 gpd. Ms. Brees 
asked about the I & I issue. Does the MUA get involved in saying how much allocation 
is available to sell? Mr. Molica said Sussex Borough would have to do an analysis of 
their current service area to determine what properties are currently undeveloped.  
They would present a build-out perspective and then say they do have adequate 
gallonage to offer to another entity outside of their service area. He said he is sure they 
would have had to do that first before ever promising or even having a conversation. 
Like other towns that tie into SCMUA, they’re paying the bill every year for the entire 
allocation. It would make sense for them to do this because then the user fee would 



MINUTES       Page 
1/9/14 
 
 

 

5

offset the cost to SCMUA. Ms. Brees said there was a build-out done for Sussex 
Borough about 10 years ago when there was a transfer for Hardyston Township; but 
she has not seen an updated version. She said they County can work with them 
because that is what the County is doing with the Wastewater Plan. John Nugent 
recommended that there be a meeting to bring all the parties together for a discussion. 
Ms. Brees agreed.  
 
B. BICSAK BROTHERS REALTY PROPERTY PROPOSED CONNECTION TO 
 SCMUA: 
 
Mr. Molica said this property is owned by the Bicsak Brothers Realty Co. It is similar 
in concept to what they are seeking for the Main Land Property.  
 
Owen Dykstra said the Bicsak property is approximately 190 acres, located on Route 
23 at the Blair Road intersection. Tonight they are discussing the front 60 acres, 
which is their Phase 1 development. It has been a soil mining operation over the past 
number of years. The soil mining project is still going on as they are currently leveling 
the site in order to prep it for development. They are proposing a mixed-use 
development along the frontage with larger retail and some apartment-type buildings. 
They want to create a small town center in this area for Wantage.  
 
This project is a little different in that the Bicsaks currently own an SCMUA allocation 
of 53,000 gallons. They want to tie their site into Sussex Borough’s force main for 
transmission. From a water perspective, they have been in contact with Hamburg 
Borough and they have allocation of water available. They have been meeting with 
their Engineers in order to discuss how to get the water here and whether they need a 
standpipe or if it can be piped directly. Mr. Molica said this plan was endorsed by the 
Wantage Committee. Mr. Dykstra said it is already shown as a proposed sewer service 
area on the approved County map.  
 
Mr. Dykstra said the potable water would come from Hamburg. They discussed 
150,000 gallons but that would be for the full build out. It is a 20 year project. David 
Muscalo asked if the water is well water or reservoir. A member said it was well water. 
Mr. Dykstra said the wastewater would be going to SCMUA. Mr. Muscalo said then it 
is lost water being diverted from the watershed and discharged to the Wallkill River. 
 
Mr. Dykstra said the zoning has been updated to allow for this type of development; 
however they have not applied for a site plan yet. The residential development is 
planned for the intersection of Blair Road and Route 23. It will transition into some 
office buildings and then into retail. Ms. Brees asked what the total MUA allocation 
would be. Mr. Dykstra said they are only looking into the Phase 1 area right now. The 
second Phase is probably ten years away.  
 
Mr. Nugent said this will have to go through DEP. Ms. Brees said DEP usually wants 
to see the whole project. Mr. Dykstra said their proposal matches what DEP approved 
for their future sewer service area. Mr. Molica said both applicants are eager to move 
forward and are willing to address any comments PAC may have. They are hoping for a 
positive feedback from this Committee. Mr. Dykstra said they do want to move forward 



MINUTES       Page 
1/9/14 
 
 

 

6

because now that they are on the future sewer service area map, they are allowed to 
apply for a site-specific amendment to the map under the legislation that was passed. 
Ms. Brees said for this project, all she received was the map, not a written Plan 
Amendment. The flows and proposed uses aren’t shown. Ernie Hofer said they haven’t 
heard much about the economic benefit of both of these projects. Economic 
development is necessary for the County and these projects will contribute to that 
mission. It was agreed that this project will also be discussed in the meeting with 
County Staff and the municipality. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: 
 
Alice Brees reviewed the correspondence listed on the attached sheet and answered 
questions on Correspondence Number Four. 
 
PLANNER'S REPORT: 
 
Ms. Brees said most of her work this month for PAC related to the Build-Out, which 
will be discussed later. There is another possible pre-application meeting for the 
Hampton Commons sewer area. This is for a possible expansion to have the Toyota 
dealership lot served by the Hampton Commons sewer. There may be an additional lot 
on Route 206 added to sewer area.  
 
Keith Gourlay said that he received a call from the property owner. John Nugent said 
the Hampton Commons treatment plant is owned and operated by SCMUA and it is 
designed for 50,000 gpd. Currently, the homeowners hold approximately 36,000 
gallons and Hampton Township holds 14,000 gallons. The 14,000 gallons was for the 
Lowe’s, and two sites in front for a restaurant and a bank. If Hampton Township 
wants to transfer some of that, SCMUA will work with the developer.  
 
There was some discussion regarding car washes. John Nugent said DEP has 
stormwater rules for car dealerships. When they wash cars commercially, the 
wastewater can no longer discharge into the ground. The soap is a source of pollution. 
DEP wants dealerships to recover the water. Many of the car dealerships need to have 
a holding tank and pump the water out and send it to an on-site septic system or 
treatment facility. Denise Webb said currently they have a closed system where the 
water is being recycled back but they are washing more cars than the system can 
handle, it keeps overflowing and she has to keep going back to check it. She advised 
them they have to pump more often or do something to increase the capacity of the 
system.  
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
 
A. DEP BUILD-OUT MODEL AND MUNICIPAL CHAPTERS FOR COUNTY WMP: 
 
Alice Brees reported that most of the Build-Out model is now working. They started in 
sewer service areas so as they are coming up with initial numbers for a town, they are 
sharing that with the town. There will be seven or eight towns with sewer areas. Ms. 
Brees said the County is looking for feedback from the towns. This is to compare 



MINUTES       Page 
1/9/14 
 
 

 

7

future needs with what the permitted capacity is. It gets noted in the plan. Ms. Brees 
said she has just started work on the septic areas. Hopefully by next month there will 
be something to bring to PAC.  
 
B. WATERSHED UPDATES: UPPER DELAWARE, WALLKILL: 
 
Ms. Mensonides asked Ernie Hofer if he had anything to report on the Upper Delaware 
Watershed. Mr. Hofer said he did not and that he will not be reporting on the 
watersheds. Ms. Mensonides asked Ms. Brees to see if Nathaniel Sajdak would send 
an occasional report to PAC. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
A. N.J. LEGISLATION INTRODUCED TO EXTEND DEP DEADLINES FOR 
 COUNTY WASTEWATER PLANS: 
 
The Bill to extend the DEP Deadlines for County Wastewater Plans has moved through 
the first Senate Committee. It appears the legislation will get passed. Ms. Brees said if 
it is not passed, we would not be able to do site specific amendments such as the two 
proposals PAC heard this evening.  
 
B. SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS FOR 2014: 
 
There was some discussion on Appointment letters from the towns. Ms. Brees said we 
generally wait for the letters during January and February before sending out 
reminders to the towns. Lisa Chammings introduced Ian Blanchard and said he will 
be Stillwater Township’s alternate PAC member. She said Mr. Blanchard is very active 
in watershed issues in Stillwater.  
 
The Schedule of Meetings for 2014 was provided to PAC. Ms. Mensonides read the 
meeting dates. A motion was made by Lisa Chammings to accept the 2014 schedule as 
read. The motion was seconded by Keith Gourlay and carried unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  
 
Dennis Mudrick, Freeholder Liaison for PAC, thanked the members for serving on this 
Committee. He also congratulated the new Chair and Vice Chair. Freeholder Mudrick 
said at a recent Freeholder Meeting, he made a Proclamation Presentation on behalf of 
the Freeholder Board to Jeffrey Butz for his years of service on PAC. The Presentation 
went very well and the Certificate was nicely done. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
All business having been completed, a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by 
David Muscalo. The motion was seconded by Eric Powell and carried unanimously. 
The meeting adjourned at 8:40 p.m. 

 


